Document:-
A/CN.4/SR.1480

Summary record of the 1480th meeting

Topic:
<multiple topics>

Extract from the Y earbook of the International Law Commission:-

1978, vol. |

Downloaded from the web site of the International Law Commission
(http://mww.un.org/law/ilc/index.htm)

Copyright © United Nations



24 Yearbook of the International Law Comunission, 1978, vol. 1

tice, had nevertheless antedated France’s acceptance
of the Court’s jurisdiction. Thus the denial of jus-
tice—if such denial had occurred—had itself taken
place prior to the crucial date and was not a suffi-
cient basis for the competence of the Court. That be-
ing said, the French agent had nevertheless agreed to
argue on the basis of the existence of breaches occur-
ring ““at several moments™ and therefore constituting
“complex” acts, the time of whose perpetration
included all those different moments.

23. In the matter of determining the tempus com-
missi delicti of a complex internationally wrongful act,
the European Commission of Human Rights had
adopted a position in conformity with the same line
of argument: it had considered that the material date
for determining whether an act was prior or subse-
quent to the date of acceptance of its jurisdiction was
not the date of the initial action or omission by the
State but the date of the decision whereby the breach
became definitive. Thus the conclusions to be drawn
from both practice and case law confirmed those dic-
tated by juridical logic, namely, that the time of the
perpetration of the breach of an international obliga-
tion constituted by a complex act was the whole pe-
riod extending from the conduct initiating the breach
to that which completed it.

24. Mr. REUTER noted that the Special Rapporteur
had determined the tempus commissi delicti in terms of
a clause defining the competence of a court of law.
It might be asked, however, whether there were not
other cases in which the rempus commissi delicti had
to be determined, and whether the answer to the
question raised in article 24 did not vary according to
the nature of the problem to be resolved. For exam-
ple, in the case of prescription of an international
crime constituted by a series of violations of human
rights, a date would have to be fixed that would not
necessarily correspond to the provisions set out in ar-
ticle 24. Similarly, in a case of succession of States
resulting from a merger of several States, the ques-
tion might arise as to the manner in which the tem-
pus commissi delicti would be determined.

25. He wondered, therefore, whether in article 24
the Special Rapporteur had intended to propose a
general rule for all cases, a general rule with excep-
tions, or a rule applicable only in the cases men-
tioned.

The meeting rose at 6 p.m.

1480th MEETING

Wednesday, 17 May 1978, at 10.5 a.m.
Chairman : Mr. Jos¢ SETTE CAMARA

Members present : Mr. Ago, Mr. Calle y Calle, Mr.
Castaneda, Mr. Dadzie, Mr. Diaz Gonzalez, Mr. El-Eri-
an, Mr. Francis, Mr. Pinto, Mr. Quentin-Baxter, Mr.
Reuter, Mr. Riphagen, Mr. §ahovié, Mr. Schwebel, Mr.

Sucharitkul, Mr. Tabibi, Mr. Tsuruoka, Mr. Ushakov,
Sir Francis Vallat, Mr. Verosta, Mr. Yankov.

State responsibility (continued)
(A/CN.4/307 and Add.1)

{Item 2 of the agenda]

DRAFT ARTICLES SUBMITTED BY THE
SpeciaL RAPPORTEUR (continued)

ARTICLE 24 (Time of the breach of an international
obligation)! (continued)

1. Mr. USHAKOV said that, for the purpose of de-
termining the tempus commissi delicti, what mattered
was not the duration of the breach of an internation-
al obligation but the time at which the breach oc-
curred, which was also the time when the responsi-
bility of the State originated. In chapter III of the
draft articles, the Commission was dealing with the
origin of the internationally wrongful act. According-
ly, for the time being, its task was to determine in
what circumstances and at what time the breach of
an international obligation occurred—in other words,
in what circumstances and at what time the interna-
tionally wrongful act occurred which entailed the
responsibility of the State. The duration of the breach
should be disregarded for the purpose of determining
the origin of the State’s responsibility, for under ar-
ticle 12 it was the internationally wrongful act that
gave rise to the State’s international responsibility.

2. In paragraph 24 of his report (A/CN.4/307 and
Add.1), the Special Rapporteur cited three issues that
might be affected by the duration of the internation-
ally wrongful act, namely, the determination of the
amount of reparation due by the perpetrator of an in-
ternationally wrongful act, the determination of the
jurisdiction ratione temporis of the international judi-
cial or arbitral tribunal that might eventually have to
deal with the case, and the requirement of the *na-
tional character of a claim™, according to which a
State was authorized to intervene for the purpose of
the diplomatic protection of an individual only if
there was a link of nationality between the State and
the individual concerned. For the moment, none of
those three issues was of concern to the Commis-
sion; its sole function was to determine in what
circumstances and at what time the international
responsibility of the State came into being.

3. The issue of the determination of the amount of
reparation payable by the perpetrator of an interna-
tionally wrongful act was irrelevant to the question
of the determination of the breach. Besides, for the
purpose of determining the amount of the reparation
for such an act, what mattered was not the duration
of the event but its seriousness. Under article 19, for
example, the distinction between an international
crime and an international delict was based not on

I For text, see 1497th meeting, para. 1.
2 See 1476th meeting, foot-note 1.



1480th meeting—17 May 1978 25

the duration but on the gravity of the internationally
wrongful act.

4. The question of the jurisdiction ratione temporis
of the international tribunal that might be dealing
with the case was likewise not germane, for that tri-
bunal’s jurisdiction and the point in time when the
breach had been committed were entirely separate
issues. The State might well be responsible in the

absence of any judicial or arbritral body having juris-

diction to deal with the particular case. After all, it
was not enough that an internationally wrongful act
should have been committed for jurisdiction to be
vested in an international judicial or arbitral body: its
jurisdiction must in addition have been accepted by
the parties to the dispute.

5. The issue of the national character of the claim
was likewise wholly extraneous to the issue of the
State’s responsibility, for that responsibility might
well exist even where no nationality link authorized
another State to intervene for the purpose of giving
diplomatic protection to a private individual.

6. Thus the factor to be taken into account for the
purpose of determining the tempus commissi delicti
was the time of the breach, not its duration. It was
arguable that the moment of the breach had already
been determined in earlier articles. For example, ar-
ticle 20 (Breach of an international obligation requir-
ing the adoption of a particular course of conduct)
contained the word ‘“‘when”, which had a twofold
meaning, namely, both “if> and “at the time when”.
In the passage ‘“‘when the conduct of that State is
not in conformity with that required of it by that ob-
ligation™, the word “conduct” was an unfortunate
choice, for it was only in the light of the situation re-
sulting from the State’s conduct that it was possible
to determine whether or not a breach of the obliga-
tion had occurred.

7. Nor was it possible to draw a sharp distinction
between the obligation of conduct and th obligation
of result, for the two obligations were closely linked
and neither could exist without the other—an obliga-
tion of conduct necessarily implied an obligation of
result. It was obviously the purpose of any obligation
either to prevent or to produce a certain situation or
event. For example, the duty of the State to enact le-
gislation prohibiting racial discrimination was not
merely an obligation of conduct but also an obliga-
tion of result, for its object was to eliminate racial
discrimination. A State which had entered into an
obligation of that kind by treaty and failed to enact
anti-discriminatory legislation committed a breach
even if in practice no case of discrimination occurred.
But if the State had enacted the required legislation
and cases of discrimination occurred, was it arguable
that the State was not responsible? In his opinion,
the State’s responsibility would be involved in such
a case, for the duty to enact anti-discriminatory legis-
lation was aimed at eliminating discrimination, a re-
sult that had not been achieved. The State would
have complied with the obligation of conduct but
have failed to fulfil the obligation of result implicit in

the obligation of conduct. Accordingly, he considered
that article 20 should be amended 1o read:

“There is a breach by a State of an international
obligation requiring it to adopt a particular course
of conduct in cases where a situation exists that is
not in conformity with the situation required by
the obligation or where the State by its conduct
prevents the attainment of the result required by
that obligation.”

8. In the case of a composite or complex event, the
responsibility existed for all the specific events, from
first to last, that constituted the composite or com-
plex event. The actual breach, however, did not occur
until the time when the composite or complex event
fully materialized, in other words, at the time when
the last specific act occurred that determined the
existence of the composite or complex event. As the
Italian Government had stated in its written obser-
vations in the Phosphates in Morocco case,

[t is only when Lhere is, as a final resull, a failure to fulfil
[these] obligations that the breach of international law is complete
and that, consequently, there is a wrongful act capable of giving
rise to an international dispute.3
9. In his opinion, the only material moment was
that at which the breach occurred, and for the pur-
pose of determining the origin of responsibility the
duration of the breach should be disregarded. The
question of the jurisdiction of the international body
was a separate issue that the Commission should not
touch upon for the time being.

10. Mr. FRANCIS did not disagree with the sub-
stance of article 24, since it followed logically from
the preceding articles, more especially article 18, para-
graphs 3, 4 and 5, and article 23. It indicated very
clearly and precisely the application of the tempus
commissi delicti rule in five specific situations.

11. One difficulty, however, was that the article did
not—and indeed could not be expected to—define
the circumstances in which an act was of a continu-
ing character, as distinct from an instantaneous act
that produced continuing effects. As the Special Rap-
porteur pointed out in paragraph 21 of his report, the
problem was to determine whether the tempus of an
internationally wrongful act having a continuing
character should be defined as the time when that
act began, or as the whole period during which it
continued. That was a problem of interpretation, and
in respect of interpretation it should be remembered
that the draft articles never stood alone but must al-
ways be viewed against the background of the com-
mentaries. Such an approach was regularly followed
by the Commission itself, by the Sixth Committee of
the General Assembly and by some institutions out-
side the United Nations system.

12. With regard to the judgment of the Permanent
Court of International Justice in the Phosphates in
Morocco case, the crux of the matter was whether
the act of the respondent government, namely, the
Government of France, had been completed in 1925

3 P.C.1J., Series C, No. 84, p. 850.



26 Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1978, vol. 1

or whether, in legal terms, it had continued beyond
25 April 1931, the date when France accepted the
compulsory jurisdiction of the Court with respect to
disputes arising out of acts subsequent to its ratifica-
tion. The Special Rapporteur’s report recognized that
the 1925 decision of the Department of Mines on Mr.
Tassara’s claim had been an instantaneous act pro-
ducing continuing effects rather than an act having a
continuing character. The Special Rapporteur also
stated that he very much doubted whether the same
could be said of the situation invoked in the main
complaint, namely, the monopoly of Moroccan phos-
phates established by the dahirs of 27 January and
21 August 1920, and that it was rather, a typical ex-
ample of a “continuing act”. That conclusion had
been drawn on the basis of the fact that the dahirs
in question were said to constitute ‘““a legislative si-
tuation regarded as contrary to the international ob-
ligations of the country which created it”
(A/CN.4/307 and Add.l, para. 30).

13. Nevertheless, at the previous session the Com-
mission had discussed the question of the effect of
legislation with regard to certain obligations and had
concluded that, in certain circumstances, it was not
the legislation in itself but the actual application of
the legislation that gave rise to a breach. It seemed
that, in the case in question, it had been the effect
of the dahirs of 27 January and 21 August 1920, ra-
ther than their mere existence, that had occasioned
the breach. The question arose as to whether deter-
mination of the tempus commissi delicti in specific si-
tuations should be made by reference to the charac-
terization of the act or to the characterization of the
obligation, or by reference to both those factors. In
his opinion, by examining the nature of the obligation,
it should be possible to determine whether a wrongful
act could be characterized as an instantaneous act, as
an instantaneous act producing continuing effects, as
an act having a continuing character, and so on. On
the other hand, it was not possible, solely, by refer-
ence to legislation purporting to cover a treaty obli-
gation, to determine whether the obligation was an
obligation of conduct or an obligation of result in-
volving a choice of means. An important distinction
had to be drawn in that respect, at least as far as le-
gislation was concerned. Naturally, he was not sug-
gesting that legislation or treaties constituted the ex-
clusive source of such obligations, for an obligation
might derive from a peremptory norm—for instance,
the obligation not to occupy unlawfully the territory
of another State.

14. In the Phosphates in Morocco case, it appeared
that France had not been under an obligation to
adopt a particular course of conduct, such as to enact
or to repeal legislation. Consequently it must have
been under an obligation of result, involving a choice
of means. Precisely because the means had been op-
tional, France had not been under any obligation to
establish regulatory machinery of higheri standing
than the Department of Mines, to which the matter
could have been referred for final settlement. There-
fore any act alleged to have been committed in

breach of France’s obligation would have been com-
pleted by 1925.

15. The Special Rapporteur stated in paragraph 30
of his report that the Court could also have added
that the only injury actually caused to an Italian cit-
izen by the legislative régime of the monopolization
of the Moroccan phosphates had been that suffered
by Mr. Tassara as a result of the 1925 decision of the
Department of Mines, and the Commission necessar-
ily returned to that decision and to its date, which
antedated the acceptance of compulsory jurisdiction.
The Court could indeed have taken a decision in
keeping with that argument suggested by the Special
Rapporteur. Personally, he would have been happier
if, to support his position and the formulation of his
draft article 24, the Special Rapporteur had invoked
the principle that a wrong should not go unredressed.
After all, there was no great interest in resurrecting
the Court’s judgment from the judicial grave so to
speak. In codifying international law, the Commis-
sion must adopt a progressive attitude.

16. In the part of his report devoted to article 24,
the Special Rapporteur also drew heavily on the prac-
tice of the European Commission of Human Rights
and referred in particular to the United Kingdom’s
acceptance of the Commission’s jurisdiction, which
had been accompanied by a reservation ratione tem-
poris in much the same way as France’s acceptance
of the jurisdiction of the Permanent Court of Inter-
national Justice in the Phosphates in Morocco case.
The report stated, inter alia: *‘the United Kingdom
recognized the competence of the Commission with
regard to individual applications alleging incompatib-
ility with the United Kingdom’s obligations under
the Convention for the Protection of Human Rights
and Fundamental Freedoms of any act or decision or
any fact or event occurring after 13 January 1966
(A/CN.4/307 and Add.1, para.33). He emphasized
the words ‘“‘any fact”, which could certainly be con-
sidered to apply to the continued imprisonment of an
individual after 13 January 1966, as in the De Courcy
v. the United Kingdom case. Under United Kingdom
law, therefore, such imprisonment might have been
justified before that date, but certainly not, under the
Convention, after that date.

17. He had studied the Convention for the Protec-
tion of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms*
and had not been able to find any provisions that ex-
pressly required the adoption of a specified course of
conduct, such as the enactment of legislation. How-
ever, article 64, paragraph 1, of that Convention
provided that:

Any State may, when signing this Convention or when depos-
iting its instrument of ratification, make a reservation in respect
of any particular provision of the Convention Lo the exlent that
any law then in force in its territory is not in conformily with the
provision...

The; question‘arose, therefore, whether a country
which had ratified the Convention subject to a res-

4 United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 213, p. 221.



1480th meeting—17 May 1978 27

ervation under article 64, paragraph 1, was not there-
by bound by its own domestic law to adopt a speci-
fied course of conduct. In the case involving the
United Kingdom, supposing the law in question had
remained in force after 13 January 1966, the fact that
the individual in prison had been imprisoned before
13 January 1966 was immaterial. The situation was
somewhat different from that in the Phosphates in
Morocco case, where property rights had been grant-
ed and then withdrawn. The Special Rapporteur’s ar-
gument might have been more conclusive had he
taken as examples cases involving the unlawful de-
tention of aliens in circumstances amounting to a
breach of an international obligation.

18. With regard to the wording of article 24, the
words ‘‘although prevention would have been possi-
ble”, in paragraph 3, seemed to him superfluous,
since the idea was already covered by the words
“prevent an event from occurring”. It might be neces-
sary for the Drafting Committee to redraft para-
graph 5, which referred to ‘‘a complex act consisting
of a succession of actions or omissions by different
organs of the State in respect of the same case”, so
as to bring it into line with article 18, paragraph 5,
which referred to ‘‘a complex act constituted by ac-
tions or omissions by the same or different organs of
the State in respect of the same case”.

19. Mr. PINTO considered that article 24 provided
guidelines for the interpretation and classification of
certain events. It led to a conclusion concerning the
time of the breach of an international obligation and
made it possible to determine when responsibility
arose.

20. He was quite satisfied that the article fitted weli
into the Commission’s work on State responsibility.
Indeed, as the Special Rapporteur had said, it was
relevant to the determination of the amount of repar-
ation payable by the State which had committed an
internationally wrongful act, to the determination of
the jurisdiction of an international tribunal with re-
gard to a dispute arising out of the breach of an in-
ternational obligation and to the question of the na-
tionality of claims for the exercise of diplomatic pro-
tection.

21. However, he was not entirely sure about the
practical application of article 24, which, as it now
stood, was likely to create more problems than it re-
solved. For example, paragraph | referred to ‘““‘an in-
stantaneous act’’, while paragraph 4 referred to “‘an
aggregate act composed of a series of similar individ-
ual acts, committed in a plurality of separate cases™.
The use of the word “series” might give rise to
problems, for a series usually meant three or more.
Accordingly it might be difficult to determine wheth-
er a particular act came under paragraph 1 or under
paragraph 4 of the article. If there were more than
one act, it might fall within the scope of either par-
agraph. Similarly, in interpreting paragraph 2, which
referred to ‘‘an act having a continuing character™,
paragraph 4, which referred to “*a series of similar in-
dividual acts™ and paragraph S, which referred to *‘a
complex act consisting of a succession of actions or

omissions by different organs of the State in respect
of the same case™, there could be different interpre-
tations as to the time when responsibility arose.

22. Mr. Ushakov had referred to another source of
possible difficulties in paragraph 5. In Mr. Ushakov’s
opinion, the time of the last in a succession of ac-
tions or omissions constituting a complex act would
determine the time when the responsibility of the
State arose. In the case of a denial of justice, he
could agree with Mr. Ushakov that it would be the
last act that would, in fact, complete the complex act,
but he wondered whether there might not be circum-
stances in which the last act completing the complex
act had to have some kind of retroactive effect on
the first act for justice to be done. For example, in
cases of ““creeping nationalization™, account must be
taken of the fact that, when the final act—expropri-
ation—occurred, a great deal of damage had already
been caused over a certain period of time.

23. Another problem that gave him concern and
might be considered by the Drafting Committee was
the difficulty of determining the time of an omission.
Paragraph 1 of article 24 referred only to ‘“‘an instan-
taneous act”. He wondered whether it might not also
be possible to refer explicitly in the same paragraph
to an omission.

24. With regard to the point raised by Mr. Frances
concerning the use, in paragraph 3, of the words *“al-
though prevention would have been possible”, his
own reaction had been to suggest that, for the sake
of clarity, those words should also have been in-
cluded in article 23.

25. Lastly, he noted that the Special Rapporteur had
used the word “‘concessions” more than once in para-
graph 39 of his seventh report. Since the word
“concessions™ might have some unfortunate conno-
tations, he thought the use of a synonym might be
advisable.

26. Mr. VEROSTA pointed out that the last few ar-
ticles of chapter lll, from article 20 onwards, con-
cerned the breach of international obligations in the
light of the nature of those obligations. Articles 20
and 21 dealt respectively with obligations of conduct
and obligations of result. The enumeration was bro-
ken by article 22, which dealt with the exhaustion of
local remedies, and was resumed in article 23, which
dealt with obligations requiring the State to prevent
a given event. Accordingly, he considered that the
order of articles 22 and 23 should be reversed.

27. With regard to article 24, paragraph 3 should
logically become paragraph 2. In the final analysis,
paragraph 1 dealt with the breach of an obligation of
conduct. If the issue of the tempus commissi delicti
was to be clarified, an appropriate provision should
appear in article 20. Similarly, the provision in para-
graph 3 concerning the obligation to prevent a certain
event might be transferred to article 23. If those sug-
gestions were followed, all that would be left of ar-
ticle 24 would be its paragraphs 2, 4 and S, which
dealt respectively with the breach of an international
obligation by a continuing act, a breach by an aggre-



28 Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1978, vol. |

gate or composite act and a breach by a complex act.
The common characteristic of those three classes of
breach was the duration of the act in question. It
might not, therefore, be necessary to devote a sepa-
rate article to the rempus commissi delicti. 1t would be
enough to supplement the enumeration begun in ar-
ticle 20 by one or two articles dealing with the breach
of international obligations by a continuing, compo-
site or complex act. In that way it would be possible
to avoid some of the drawbacks, noted by Mr. Reuter
(1419th meeting), Mr. Ushakov and Mr. Pinto, that
would be inherent in an article dealing specifically
with the time of the breach of an international ob-
ligation.

28. In conclusion, he thought that the expression
“succession of actions or omissions” in the English
version of paragraph 5 was a mistranslation of the
French ‘““une succession de comportements”.

29. Mr. SCHWEBEL fully agreed with the Special
Rapporteur that the time of the breach of an inter-
national obligation was of particular importance in
deciding the amount of reparation to be paid, deter-
mining the jurisdiction of an international tribunal
with regard to a dispute arising out of such a breach
and dealing with questions of the continuity of na-
tionality in the maintenance of international claims.
Indeed, he hoped that, later in the draft, an article
would be devoted to the rule of continuity in the na-
tionality of claims, which was frequently applied in
an unpalatable and inequitable manner and might
therefore be an appropriate subject for the progressive
development of international law.

30. In paragraph 23 of his report, the Special Rap-
porteur had referred to the breach of an international
obligation resulting not from a single act, but from a
*“practice” consisting of similar individual acts com-
mitted in a number of separate cases. Examples of
such acts could, of course, be found, particularly now
that the United Nations was concerned about situa-
tions revealing a pattern of constant and flagrant vi-
olations of human rights and fundamental freedoms.
On the whole, however, he thought that treaty pro-
hibitions of a practice rather than of an act were ex-
ceptional. For example, the rights embodied in trea-
ties of establishment, friendship, commerce and nav-
igation usually provided guarantees for individuals,
and there did not have to be a pattern of violations
for the individuals concerned to claim that their
rights under the treaty in question had been in-
fringed.

31. Although he had no difficulties with para-
graphs 1, 2 and 3 of the article under consideration,
he could see the advantage of reversing the order of
paragraphs 2 and 3. With regard to paragraph 4, he
noted that Mr. Ushakov had said that a breach of an
international obligation occurred only at the time of
the last of the individual acts constituting the series
in conflict with the international obligation, if the
discrete acts themselves were not in conflict with
that obligation. His own opinion was that, in most
cases, the discrete acts would also be in conflict with

the international obligation. If, however, in excep-
tional cases, they were not and only the aggregate act
constituted the breach of the international obligation,
would it be correct to say that the time of the breach
extended over the entire period between the first and
the last of the individual acts constituting the series
in conflict with the international obligation? He
would be grateful to the Special Rapporteur for a clar-
ification of that point.

32. He confessed to a certain amount of confusion
with regard to paragraph 5, for he was not sure that
it was consistent with article 22. Paragraph 5 stated
that the time of the breach of an international obli-
gation constituted by a complex act consisting of a
succession of actions or omissions by different organs
of the State in respect of the same case extended
over the entire period between the action or omission
which initiated the breach and that which completed
it. If that reasoning were transposed to the context of
article 22, the logical conclusion would be that the
time of the breach was not the time of the exhaus-
tion of local remedies, but rather the entire period be-
tween the action or omission which initiated the
breach and that which completed it. To take the ex-
ample of a breach of a treaty obligation, supposing a
national of State A claimed that State B had breached
an international treaty obligation of which he was the
beneficiary and carried his claim to the courts of
State B, it could be said that he had exhausted local
remedies only when the courts of State B rejected his
claim; yet he would probably maintain that the time
of the breach of the international obligation that he
could invoke, and thus the amount of damages pay-
able to him should be calculated not from the time
of the exhaustion of local remedies but from the time
of the act or omission by State B constituting the
breach. It seemed to him that paragraph 5 in fact
supported such a sensible conclusion; but if it did, it
might not be consistent with article 22. He would be
grateful to the Special Rapporteur for a clarification of
that point also.

Gilbert Amado Memorial Lecture

33. The CHAIRMAN announced that the 1978 Gil-
berto Amado Memorial Lecture would be given by
Judge T.O. Elias of the International Court of Jus-
tice on 7 June, at 5.30 p.m.

The meeting rose at 1 p.m.

1481st MEETING

Thursday, 18 May 1978, at 10.10 a.m.
Chairman : Mr. José SETTE CAMARA

Members present : Mr. Ago, Mr. Calle y Calle, Mr.
Castafieda, Mr. Dadzie, Mr. Diaz Gonzilez, Mr. El-Eri-
an, Mr. Francis, Mr. Jagota, Mr. Pinto, Mr. Quentin-



